II. IN'TRODUCTION. 

Whether award of RCW 64.12.040 damages, for failure to 

show belief that the land wrongfully wasted was theirs, allows 

application of Washington's Liability Rule is presented by this 

petition. A forced sale was ordered during, and in aid of 

development permit administration when Cottinghams could not 

even cause LUPA review, raising exhaustion and due process 

issues. Regulated development concerns which the Judgment 

issued to command include setback and safety (Finding 23.8, CP 

108, 636), during continuing agency administration of such 

concerns. 

Findings 22, 23, and Conclusion 8 require sale to Morgans

V. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW. 

A. CONFLICT WITH SUPREME COURT DECISION: 
Neither Arnold v. Melani nor Proctor v. Huntington Allow A 
"Liability Rule" Forced Sale Remedy For Satisfaction Of 
Internal Development Conflicts. 

B. CONFLICT WITH SUPREME COURT DECISION: 
The decision directly conflicts with Bach v. Sarich, 74 Wn.2d 
575, 445 P.2d 648 (1968), Rewarding Wrongful Action By 
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One With Knowledge That His Actions Trespass Upon And 
Impair Title Of Another. 

C. CONFLICT WITH SUPREME COURT DECISION: 
Cost Management Services v. City of Lakewood, _ Wn.2d 
_ (No. 87964-8, October 10, 2013. 

D. CONFLICT WITH SUPREME COURT DECIONS: 
Broughton Lumber Co. v. BNSF Railway, 174 Wn.2d 619, 
_ P.3d _ (2012)( Cert. U.S. Dist. Ct, E.D.); Jongeward 
v. BNSF Ry., 174 Wn.2d 586, _ P.3d _ (2012) (2012) 

E. CONSTITUTIONAL CONFLICT: U.S. Constitution, 
Am. XIV, Due Process, U. S. Const. Am. V, Due Process 
and Takings clause; Wash. Const. Art 1 §16; 

F. CONSTITUTIONAL CONFLICT: U.S. Const. AM. XIV, 
Equal Protection Clause and Washington Constitution: 
Privileges And Immunities Clause. 

G. QUESTION OF PUBLIC IMPORTANCE- Equity 
Should Not Remedy Structural Construction Too Close To 
One's Own Boundary Regardless Of Planning Enabling Act 
Regulations, Health Regulations and Surveyor Practices Act 
Concerns, And Agency Administration By Forced Sale .. 

VI. STATEMENT OF THE CASE. 

Trial began for Morgans' to show their pleaded RCW 8.24 

private condemnation with Morgans' survey actually showing their 

lot landlocked away from access across abutting railroad property. 

EX 4. A boundary had been determined by summary judgment, 

and reconsideration stood denied to Morgans. Cottinghams' 

trespass and waste complaint under RCW 64.12.030 allowed 

Morgans to simply show "probable cause to believe that the land on 

4 



which such trespass was committed was his or her own"3 Treble 

damages only resulted at Morgans failure to do so. 

Reconsideration was not announced for notice allowing full 

trial on adverse possession, roadway relocation or agency 

regulations. 4 Without pronouncement of reconsideration allowing 

notice of broader scope of trial on adverse possession and title 

according to an earlier filed plat (page 2, EX 13), the court applied 

the "liability rule" allowing equitable relief without required Arnold 

findings, e.g., that "it is impractical to move [any] structure as built" 

or any unwitting construction over any line. 5 Morgans had not even 

denied their surveyor's testimony that they instructed him to stake 

their Nixon Beach Tracts Lot Eleven other than at railroad property 

3 
" If upon trial of such action it shall appear that the trespass was 

casual or involuntary, or that the defendant had probable cause to believe 
that the land on which such trespass was committed was his or her own, 
or that of the person in whose service or by whose direction the act was 
done .... , judgment shall only be given for single damages." RCW 
64.12.040." 

4 The trial judge informed that he was "really taking this as an offer 
of proof as much as anything else." ln. 1 -4, RP II, Page 124 ln. 1 -4, 
December 1, 2011; RP II; 125, ln. 6- 126, ln. 2. 

5 Findings entered without presentment. No emergency was 
recited, per CR 54(f), and no open court entry occurred which would 
have produced a transcript at entry. 

5 



as called by their plat,6 but at the internal private road now shifted 

east_? Morgans had not even attempted to determine whether 

resulting side yard dimension would be approved by the county,8 

yet Finding No 23 entered to support forced sale to satisfy land use 

development decisions. No final agency decision or certificate 

thereof revealed Morgans as having fully performed a condition that 

denied their planned driveway in the side yard setback. EX 23.9 

Findings and Conclusions held Morgans' conduct as intentional and 

tortious. 10 

Morgans' "offer of proof at trial11 "over Cottinghams' 

6 Surveyor Ayers testified that the "boundary of the Nixon Beach 
Plat extends or abuts the right-of-way" RPII 68, ln. 3-5, and 69, ln. 5; 70, 
ln. 21; RP II, 69 24- 71, ln. 4; RPII 71, ln. 10-25 

7 Summary judgments' importance included clearing potential for 
renewed use of an internal platted road which has shifted within Morgans' 
lot away from Cottinghams' lot but remains of record. The Opinion 
incorrectly addresses it as at the eastern edge, but the plat's call and Ex 
13, pg 2, show this roadway is internal to Morgans' and Cottinghams' lots 
and its placement an impediment to use. Establishing it as actually moved 
was therefore highly advantageous and material to an equitable result for 
all concerned. 

8 Testimony of Defendant Ron Morgan, pg. 11-14, pg. 164, RP 
Dec.?, 2013. 

9 wee 23.60.023.A.(appeal of exemption); wee 23.50.020.B(Mandatory 
Enforcement); wee 23.11 0.190.S.2("Shall" definition); wee 23.60.190.A.3 
(actual date of an exemption as the last date of required action) Appendix. 

1° Finding No. 27 (Intentional "trespass"); Finding no. 29 
(knowledge of "a bona fide property line dispute") Conclusion No. 7 
(trespass and conversion). 

11 ln. 23-24, RP II, Page 124. 
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objection, 12 had not resulted in notice of a ruling on Cottinghams' 

objection, CR 19 analysis, or discussion regarding reconsideration's 

impact upon the relocated internal roadway, despite Cottinghams' 

comparison with full trial opportunity1 3to support its findings. 

Finding No. 29 established Morgans' knowledge of existence 

of a bona fide property dispute, but the Opinion upholds use 

against Cottinghams of setback regulation concerns adopted in the 

public interest. Finding 23.C, Slip Opinion, page 10. The opinion 

identifies an inconsistent Supplemental Finding [CP 636-640] 

denying the findings of adverse possession, for remand with 

instruction simply to "address" only its inconsistency, although the 

court rejected Finding No. 22 ("Title in the disputed property, and all 

of Lot Eleven should be quieted in Morgan"). 

Cottinghams' moved for RAP 7.2(e) leave to proceed in the 

trial court with a post trial motion contradicting Finding No 17 (on 

declaratory evidence that the county health officer had not 

prohibited relocation of Morgans septic) stands denied by the Court 

of Appeals. Cottinghams' motion for joinder of this No. 68202-4-1 

with LUPA review in appeal No. 70218-1-1 was denied by the Court 

12 1n. 1 -4, RP II, Page 124 -ln. 14, page 127. 
13 ln. 24, RP Ill, pg. 37, Dec 15, 2011 (limited trial objection). 
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. ' 

of Appeals. As soon as a land use decision was made by the 

agency Cottinghams sought review. Summary dismissal entered 

before a record was certified in 12-2-03029-1. Cottinghams' appeal 

is under 70218-1-1. Their motion to join these appeals was denied 

by the Court of Appeals. 

VII. ARGUMENT 

A. CONFLICT WITH SUPREME COURT DECISION: Neither 
Arnold v. Melani nor Proctor v. Huntington Allow A "Liability Rule" 
Forced Sale Remedy For Satisfaction Of Internal Development 
Conflicts. 

Arnold v. Melani and Proctor v.Huntington 14 apply a "liability 

rule" to injunctive relief against structural encroachment. Finding 

Nos. 27 (Intentional "trespass"); No. 29 (knowledge of "a bona fide 

property line dispute") No. 7 (trespass and conversion) and failure 

to demonstrate minimal belief in ownership under RCW 64.12.040 

are conclusive. Its use is irreconcilable with Arnold and Proctor 

factors. No decision has or should apply its "balancing" on proof of 

extraordinary wrongful trespass waste findings. Not only was no 

structural encroachment outside Morgans' lot identified for 

protective use of Arnold's and Proctor's liability rule, structural 

ejectment was never sought. 

14 Arnold v. Melani, 75 Wn.2d 143, 146, 449 P.2d 800 (1968); 
Proctor v. Huntington, 169 Wn.2d 491, 192 P.3d 958 (2010). 
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The Court of Appeals Opinion inappropriately regards 

Morgans' encroachment into their own setback as cause to extend 

the rare "liability rule" to aid completion of development by forcing 

sale of a neighbor's property, instead of applying the property rule 

protecting property after wrongful, tortious behaviour. Even if 

Proctor v. Huntington had addressed adverse possession (which it 

did not) the Opinion nevertheless conflictsf 

Morgans were specifically found possessed of culpable 

intent which prevents any innocent mistake finding as in Proctor. 

Cottinghams' evidence exceeded the preponderance burden, 

showing Morgan's knowledge and their predecessor under adverse 

possession's "open and notorious" element by "clear, cogent and 

convincing" evidence. CP 108.15 

No "unwitting" construction finding entered for Arnold's and 

Proctor's justification (protecting structural encroachment against 

an oppressive use of equity) Arnold v. Me/ani does not stand for 

imposition of a forced sale remedy to satisfy profitability following 

tortious behaviour or for agency permit condition satisfaction before 

15 Conclusion No. 5, preponderance was sufficient. 
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.. 

the agency has ruled. 16 

The particular burden under Arnold and Proctor was virtually 

indistinguishable from their burden under RCW 64.12.040, 

Discussed at "D. (Broughton Lumber, Jongeward v), infra. Morgans 

could not show "probable cause" to believe the land was their own 

as allowed by RCW 64.12.040, a conclusive failure under Arnold's 

first test requiring clear and convincing evidence Proctor at 500 

(emphasis added), therefore the trial court rejected Morgans' 

Supplemental Findings and Conclusions, refusing to find good faith, 

CP 636. 17 

No structure outside Lot Eleven is found at risk of removal. 

No structure is found located over any line or subject to a requested 

16 Under Arnold v. Me/ani "the encroacher must prove the following 
elements by clear and convincing evidence: (1) [H]e did not simply take a 
calculated risk or act in bad faith, or act negligently, willfully, or 
indifferently in locating the encroaching structure; (2) the damage to the 
landowner is slight and the benefit of removal equally small; (3) there is 
ample remaining room for a structure suitable for the area and there is no 
real limitation on the property's future use; (4) it is impracticable to move 
the encroaching structure as built; and (5) there is an enormous disparity 
in the resulting hardships. Arnold v. Me/ani, 75 Wn.2d at 152. (emphasis 
added). 

17 Rejected were Supplemental Finding No. 33 ("removal of the 
laurels, when done was necessary for Morgan to continue to have 
reasonable vehicle access to Lot 11 "); 34 (Morgan reasonably believed 
that the land upon which the bushes was removed was Morgan's 
property."); and Supplemental No. 35 ("Morgan's removal was casual and 
not wilful!); and Supplemental Conclusion No. 7 (" ... because cutting did 
not occur on land of Cottinghams"). CP 636. 

10 
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ejectment. No "enormous disparity in resulting hardships" was 

included any cost or any review by any permitting authority. The 

remedy therefore abuses discretion and conflicts with the Supreme 

Court decision in Proctor v. Huntington. The court specifically found 

that "The Morgans knew of the existence of a bona fide dispute but 

nonetheless removed the eight laurels in violation of RCW 

64.12.030," (Finding No. 29); that in 2005 Morgans' surveyor 

depicted the laurels (Finding No. 12); "on Lot Eleven." (Finding No. 

13); that for the two years before their purchase in 2006 Morgans 

had seen "the row of laurels which had been in the ground for quite 

some time" (Finding No. 11 ); that Morgans were aware of the 

laurels and their location in close proximity to the survey line" when 

they purchased (Finding No. 16). Morgans' "completed their 

construction in 2007," (Finding No. 17) with such knowledge. 

The Court of Appeals Opinion found evidence of resulting 

proximity to a line (which Morgans' surveyor disclaimed as actually 

locating the court's line 18
). But proximity after waste is no measure 

18 Morgans' surveyor rejected measurements as made to the 
summary judgment line or to trunks of any of the laurels. In 14, pg. 146, 
RP II Dec. 1, 2011. He testified "this says court mandated line. We did 
not, that I recall, physically locate that." ln. 6-8, pg.147, RP II Dec. 1, 
2011. The exhibit was prepared on "numbers that were "provided to us," 
ln. 24; pg.148, RPII; for a line from a "calculated position and probably 

11 
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of the notice-based knowledge upon which reckless conduct is 

measured. No measurement while the hedge provided notice 

during construction entered. 

B. CONFLICT WITH SUPREME COURT DECISION: The 
decision directly conflicts with Bach v. Sarich, 74 Wn.2d 575, 445 
P.2d 648 (1968), Rewarding Wrongful Action By One With 
Knowledge That His Actions Trespass Upon And Impair Title Of 
Another. 

The decision in Bach v. Sarich19 has long set a standard for 

application of equity when relative hardship is any part of the 

inquiry. "[B]alancing the equities, or relative hardship, is reserved 

for the innocent defendant who proceeds without knowledge or 

warning that his structure encroaches upon another's property or 

property rights." The maxim that a court of equity will not intervene 

on behalf of a party whose conduct has been unconscientious or 

unjust is basic to justice.20 

C. CONFLICT WITH SUPREME COURT DECISION: Cost 
Management Services v. City of Lakewood,_ Wn.2d _(No. 
87964-8, October 10, 2013. 

not the Iron Pipe" In 14-17, pg.150; RPII; Ln.11, pg. pg.147; "we were 
given the line and the measurements" ln. 23, pg. 149, RP II Dec. 1, 2011, 
testimony of Larry Steele, Surveyor. 

19 Bach v. Sarich, 74 Wn.2d 575, at 582, 445 P.2d 648 (1968); 
and, see, fn. 5, Responsible Urban Growth v. Kent , 123 Wn.2d 376 
(1994). 

20 Portion Pack, Inc. v. Bond, 44 Wn.2d 161, 265 P.2d 1045 
(1954); Income Investors, Inc. v. Shelton, 3 Wn.2d 599, 101 P.2d 973 
(1940). 

12 
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Morgans had failed to exhaust administrative remedies and 

did not qualify for equitable relief. Pursuit of equity without 

exhaustion administrative process substantially impaired 

Cottinghams' ability to defend their property. They could not seek 

review twenty one days after the permit without any final land use 

decision. RCW 36.70C.030. Therefore they could not effectively 

scrutinize the administrative decisions and policies by which 

Morgans might claim detriment. Because of failure to exhaust the 

administrative process begun under planning enabling act controls 

and shoreline ordinance conditioning it was error to accord them 

equitable relief and the decision conflicts with the decision in Cost 

Mgmt. Servs., Inc. v. City of Lakewoocf1Cost Management 

Services22 has returned Washington to clarity regarding the 

necessity of administrative procedure exhaustion before application 

of equity 

Lack of exhaustion was highly prejudicial to Cottinghams, 

who cannot be held to have had complete opportunity for trial of 

development regulations affecting Morgans' good faith. RCW 

21 
_ Wn.2d _(No. 87964-8, October 10, 2013) 

22 Cost Mgmt. Servs., Inc. v. City of Lakewood,_ Wn.2d _ 
(No. 87964-8, October 10, 2013). 

13 
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19.27.095, Lauer v. Pierce County, 173 Wn.2d 242 (2011). 

Exhaustion serves to prevent needs -including condemnation- from 

being inconsistently represented to the agency and the court. 

Shoreline exemption permitting is not even considered "issued" 

until the last act required. wee 23. 60.190.3. That act is the final 

certificate assuring that all laws of the jurisdiction have been 

complied with. International Building Code (IBC 11 0.2), including 

review of RCW 58.09.020(3)23 wee 21.05.150; WCC23.50.02.B.24 

D. CONFLICT WITH SUPREME COURT DECIONS: Broughton 
Lumber Co. v. BNSF Railway; Jongeward v. BNSF Ry. 

The Opinion conflicts with Broughton Lumber Co. v. BNSF 

Railway, abusing discretion by reward following culpability in the 

form of wrongful trespass and waste. Trespass waste has long 

received Washington's strongest condemnation, ld as an intentional 

23 ("Survey" shall mean the locating and monumenting in 
accordance with sound principles of land surveying by or under the 
supervision of a licensed land surveyor, of points or lines which define the 
exterior boundary or boundaries common to two or more ownerships or 
which reestablish or restore general land office corners." RCW 
58.09.023(emphasis added). 

24 See, South Hollywood Hills Citizens Ass'n v. King County, 101 
Wn.2d 68, 73, 74, 677 P.2d 114 (1984)( policies underlying the 
exhaustion doctrine). 

14 
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tort based upon land ownership.25 Cottinghams' improvements 

provided substantial notice to Morgans and any others. Proctor's 

mistaken construction cannot even be argued when RCW 

64.12.040 "belief in ownership" facts cannot be found allowing 

escape from treble damages. c. f. Broughton Lumber Co. v. BNSF 

Railway, 174 Wn.2d 619, _ P.3d _ (2012)( Cert. U.S. Dist. Ct, 

E.D.); Jongeward v. BNSF Ry., 174 Wn.2d 586, _ P.3d _ 

(2012). Extension of Proctor v. Huntington analysis here -and it did 

not address adverse possession facts (fn, No.2 at pg 500)- directly 

conflicts with Broughton Lumber Co., and cases cited therein, even 

before recognizing the rejected and stricken amendment Supp. No. 

34 ("Morgan reasonably believed that the land upon which the 

bushes were removed was Morgans' Property"). 

E. CONSTITUTIONAL CONFLICT: U.S. Constitution, 
Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process, Fifth Amendment's Due 
Process and Takings clause; Washington's Const. Art 1 §16; 

Procedure at trial was constitutionally inadequate for lack of 

opportunity for trial on adverse possession, the internal roadway's 

previous location, and administrative interpretations of development 

25 Broughton Lumber Co. v. BNSF Railway, 174 Wn.2d 619, _ 
P.3d _ (2012)( Cert. U.S. Dist. Ct, E.D., et., Jongeward v. BNSF Ry., 
174 Wn.2d 586, _ P.3d _ (2012) 

15 
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regulations. Essential notice was denied by use of CR 54(b) 26 after 

trial, and materially denied a fair trial denying preparation for trial on 

adverse possession with entry of EX 29 and Conclusion 8 (road 

relocation dismissal). Prejudice entered trial by Cottinghams as a 

consequence of lack of pronouncement of the moment and scope 

of reconsideration.(Finding 19, 20). 

Conclusion No. 8 summarily dismissed the remedy won at 

summary judgment (merely stating "abandonment of the private 

road was not before the court in this proceeding") without trial by 

elevating CR 54(b) authority over CR 19. Joinder of others was 

unnecessary unless judgment sought was against others who 

claimed an interest after a CR 19 motion?7
. Not surprisingly on this 

limited record, the opinion misstates the roadway's prior location as 

at the eastern end of the two lots,28 rather than internal (regarding 

which internal location Morgans' offered no opinion at trial even 

26 A judicially created rule may be challenged on constitutional 
grounds. Gossett v. Farmers Ins. Co., 133 Wn.2d 954(1997). 

27 No finding asserts that any person was interested in the road's 
return and Morgans' surveyor had filed a survey revealing that same road 
as abandoned EX 14. See, "Wimberly v. Caravello, 136 Wn.App. 327 
(2006). 

28 Surveyor "Ayers" gave uncontradicted testimony that the Nixon 
Lots abut the railroad property. 67, ln. 14-68, ln.4, RP 2; 70, ln. 21 -
(Dec, 1, 2013); and Morgans did not survey their entire lot. 74, In 14-75, 
ln.6 
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through their surveyor).29 The shifted private roadway and prior 

surveying support (EX 13 pg. 2) deserved a record better offered 

under eottinghams' complaint. 30 Potential for deprivation of a 

private property interest by government requires greater scrutiny 

31 Substantive State Law entitlement was prejudiced without due 

process. State Shoreline Management law and EX 23 (ReW 

90.58.230, wee 23.50.020.8, appendix), carried fundamental 

expectancies in mandatory enforcement at great risk of erroneous 

deprivation without full trial after exhaustion of agency purposes. 

No substantial relation to the public health, safety, or general 

welfare exists in a forced sale for administrative regulation 

satisfaction. Substantive due process protects against arbitrary 

and capricious government action even when the decision to take 

action is pursuant to constitutionally adequate procedures." Crown 

Point Dev., Inc. v. City of Sun Valley, 506 F.3d 851, 856 (9th eir. 

29 As to who owned property upland and east of Morgans :corner" 
stakes which the plat calls out as abutting railroad, their surveyor 
answered "It's an interesting question." ln.9, pg. 164 RP2, Dec 1, 2011; 
and he was "sure" he had a conversation informing that Morgans' 
property extended further than those corners. In 22-24, pg. 142 RP 2. 

30 Mullane v. Cent. Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306, 313-
14 (1950). 

31 Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 335, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. 
Ed. 2d 18 (1976)); Wedges/Ledges of Cal. v. City of Phoenix, 24 F. 3d 56, 
62 (9th Cir. 1994) 
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2007) Shanks v. Dressel, 540 F.3d 1082 (9th Cir., 2008) Use of 

development regulations also effects unconstitutional "per se" 

taking regardless of compensation32 A duty to enforce a shoreline 

setback is recognized in Washington State. See Radach v. 

Gunderson, 39 Wn. App. 392, 695 P.2d 128 (1985). 

No legitimate interest is furthered by disregard of such 

definite benefits. Kelo v. City of New London, 545 U.S. 469, 483 

(2005); Hawaii Housing Authority v. Midkiff, 702 F.2d 788, (No. 83-

141); Stop The Beach Renourishment v. Florida Dep Env. Prot., 

130 S. Ct. 2592 (2010). The judicial forced sale remedy for 

development condition satisfaction lacked a rational relationship to 

a legitimate governmental end, prejudicing regulatory expectancies 

benefiting Cottinghams. 

Use of development regulations to remedy internal conflicts 

stretches the police power "too far." Washington provides 

enhanced protections against taking private property for private 

use. Manufactured Housing Communities v. State, 142 Wn.2d 347 

(2000). Unconstitutional taking occurred with physical invasion of 

private property by government. Loretto v. Teleprompter Manhattan 

32 See, fn. No. 9, Manufactured Housing Communities v. State, 
142 Wn.2d 347 (2000) 
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CATV Corp., 458 U.S. 419,426, 102 S. Ct. 3164, 73 L. Ed. 2d 868 

(1982) 

F. CONSTITUTIONAL CONFLICT: U.S. Constitution 
Fourteenth Amendment, Equal Protection Clause and 
Washington Constitution: Privileges And Immunities Clause. 

While Morgans continued with advantages of permitting and 

development and forced sale litigation, Cottinghams were 

prevented from the court's jurisdiction for review of their permitting 

decisions under RCW 36. 70C. 030 Administration of Washington's 

"liability rule" on such a record violated the Equal Protection Clause 

And Privileges and Immunities by unjustly discriminating against 

Cottinghams and their property. Under the equal protection clause, 

persons similarly situated with respect to the law must receive 

similar treatment. Tunstall v. Bergeson, 141 Wn.2d 201, 225, 5 

P.3d 691 (2000), cert. denied, 532 U.S. 920 (2001). Strict scrutiny 

is deserved when a fundamental property right is involved. 

The decision elevates and a class of citizens building new 

construction which do not apply equally to all neighbors to 

development, contrary Wash. Const. Article I, §12 .33
. 

33 Equitable Shipyards, Inc. v. State, 93 Wn.2d 465, 476, 611 P.2d 
396 (198~;)(construed similarly). 
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396 (1980)(construed similarly). 
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 
DIVISION ONE 

DAVID C. COTIINGHAM and JOAN S. ) 
COTIINGHAM, ) 
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v. 

RONALD J. MORGAN and KAYE L. 
MORGAN, Husband and Wife, 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

___ R_es__,_p_o_n_d_en_t_si_C_ro_s_s_A_,p_.,p_e_lla_n_t_s._) 

No. 68202-4-1 

(Consolidated with No. 68402-7-1) 

ORDER DENYING MOTION 
FOR RECONSIDERATION 

The appellants, David C. Cottingham and Joan S. Cottingham, having filed a 

motion for reconsideration herein, and a majority of the panel having determined that the 

motion should be denied; now, therefore, it is hereby 

ORDERED that the motion for reconsideration be, and the same is, hereby denied . 
. -I(, 

Dated this j g., day of November, 2013. 

FOR THE COURT: 
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 
DIVISION ONE 

DAVID C. COTIINGHAM and JOAN S. ) 
COTIINGHAM, ) 

Appellants/Cross Respondents, 

v. 

RONALD J. MORGAN and KAYE L. 
MORGAN, Husband and Wife, 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

_____ R_e_s~p_o_n_d_e_nt_s_IC_r_o_ss_A~pp~e_l_la_n_ts_._) 

No. 68202-4-1 

(Consolidated with No. 68402-7-1) 

UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

FILED: October 14, 2013 

SCHINDLER, J.- David and Joan Cottingham (Cottingham) own waterfront 

property on Lake Whatcom. Ronald and Kaye Morgan (Morgan) own an adjacent 

waterfront lot. Cottingham filed a lawsuit against Morgan claiming ownership of a 

portion of Morgan's property by adverse possession. Cottingham also asserted claims 

for nuisance, outrage, conversion, and trespass. Morgan filed a counterclaim to quiet 

title to the disputed area. The court granted Cottingham's motion for partial summary 

judgment, concluding Cottingham established adverse possession of approximately 800 

square feet of Morgan's property. But at the conclusion of the trial, the court found that 

Cottingham established adverse possession as to only 292.3 square feet of Morgan's 

property. The court quieted title to the property in Cottingham but allowed Morgan to 

purchase the property at fair market value. The court also ordered Morgan pay treble 
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. 
damages under the timber trespass statute, and dismissed Cottingham's claims for 

nuisance and outrage. 

On appeal, Cottingham contends the court erred in revising the decision on 

partial summary judgment, allowing Morgan to purchase the property, and dismissing 

the nuisance and outrage claims. Morgan cross appeals the order granting partial 

summary judgment, the determination that he committed conversion, and the award of 

treble damages. We affirm the trial court in all respects but remand to address an 

inconsistent conclusion of law in the "Supplemental Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law." 

FACTS 

David and Joan Cottingham (Cottingham) own two waterfront lots on Lake 

Whatcom, Lot 9 and Lot 10 of the "Nixon Beach" tracts. Lot 9 is directly north of Lot 10. 

The lots are narrow and rectangular. The western edge of the lots borders Lake 

Whatcom. Cottingham's house is located on Lot 9. Lot 11 shares a boundary with Lot 

10. Lot 11 is also a narrow rectangular tract of land with the western edge bordering 

Lake Whatcom. A 1 0-foot-wide private road runs across the eastern edge of the Nixon 

Beach tracts. The road is held in undivided ownership interests for all of the owners of 

14 Nixon Beach lots.1 

In 2004, Ronald and Kaye Morgan (Morgan) considered purchasing Lot 11. In 

2005, Morgan retained Larry Steele to conduct a survey. In January 2006, Morgan 

purchased Lot 11. A row of laurels was located along the boundary between Lot 10 and 

Lot 11. 

1 The deed to Lot 11 states that title includes an "undivided 14th interest in the road shown on the 
plat." 

2 
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In August 2006, Morgan began construction of the house, a fence, and a 

driveway. Morgan installed the fence along the property line indentified in the Steele 

survey. In September 2007, Morgan removed eight of the laurels to construct the 

driveway. In fall 2008, ground water from the septic tank was inadvertently pumped 

onto the lot south of Lot 11. Morgan installed a new drain field in the spring. 

In June 2009, Cottingham filed an action to quiet title to a portion of Lot 11 

asserting ownership by adverse possession. Cottingham also alleged claims for 

trespass, conversion, nuisance, and outrage. Morgan filed a counterclaim to quiet title 

to the disputed portion of his property. 

Cottingham filed a motion for partial summary judgment on adverse possession. 

Cottingham submitted a declaration stating that beginning in 1989, he mowed and 

cleared blackberry in the disputed area. Cottingham also stated that between 1989 and 

1994, he planted rhododendrons, the laurel hedge, a garden, a locust tree, and a 

hydrangea on or near the disputed area, and installed a compost structure and a swing 

set in the disputed area. Cottingham said that he planted another row of laurels on the 

eastern end of the boundary in 1995. 

Cottingham also submitted the declaration of Steven Otten. Otten maintained 

Lot 11 for the previous owner, Gladys Cook, until she sold the property in 1998. Otten 

stated that the disputed area ''was being regularly mowed and maintained and used by 

Cottinghams." 

In opposition, Morgan argued that when he visited the property in 2004 and 

2005, he never saw "any evidence of any occupation of Lot 11 by plaintiffs or anyone 

else." Morgan submitted the declaration of his surveyor Steele. Steele stated that 

3 
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when he visited the property between January 2005 and January 2007, he did not "see 

evidence of any established boundary line, or witness or see evidence of any adverse 

occupation." Steele also stated that there was "an uneven row of bushes some of which 

were north of Lot 11, some of which were on the surveyed property line, and some of 

which were on Lot 11." 

The court granted the motion for partial summary judgment. The court concluded 

the unrebutted evidence established that Cottingham adversely possessed 

approximately 800 square feet of the property located near the boundary line near Lot 

10 and Lot 11 beginning in 1989. The order states, in pertinent part: "Defense has 

raised disputed legal conclusions, but no relevant issues of material fact. The adverse 

possession lasted well in excess of the statutory requirement." 

Several witnesses testified during the four-day trial on the remaining claims, 

including Cottingham, Morgan, septic installer Thomas Pulver, real estate appraiser Don 

Gustafson, and surveyors Bruce Ayers and Steele? The court also conducted a site 

visit. 

At the conclusion of the trial, the court revised its ruling on partial summary 

judgment "because at trial it became clear" that many of the laurels were "clearly on Lot 

10 and not Lot 11." The court ruled that Cottingham had established adverse 

possession as to only 292.3 square feet and not 800 square feet of the disputed area.

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