RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jan 17, 2014, 11:37 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY EMAIL

SUPREME COURT NO. 89727-I (APPEAL NO. 68202-4-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

(Whatcom County Court Case No. 09-2-01773-1)

DAVID COTTINGHAM AND JOAN COTTINGHAM,

Petitioners,

VS.

RONALD MORGAN AND KAYE MORGAN,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Douglas R. Shepherd Bethany C. Allen Shepherd and Abbott 2011 Young Street, Ste 202 Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 733-3773

January 17, 2014

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

REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court **only**:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.¹

Cottinghams' Complaint, seeking adverse possession, clearly sought relief from a court of equity. Cottinghams' argue the trial court could not provide equitable relief to Morgans. They seek review in this Court simply complaining about the equity done.

¹ RAP 13.4(b).

Cottinghams allege frustration with the trial court's decision to modify its partial summary judgment decision after the undisputed evidence at trial was inconsistent with the earlier decision. Rulings on partial summary judgments are interlocutory in nature, can be modified at any time before entry of the final order, and therefore, interlocutory review or appeal is not allowed.

A. An equitable sale allowing Morgans to re-purchase property adversely possessed by Cottinghams was well within the trial courts discretion.

Courts have "tremendous discretion to do justice when fashioning an equitable remedy." *Proctor v. Huntington*, 169 Wn.2d 491, 503, 238 P.3d 1117 (2010). "[A] court's equity power transcends the mechanical application of property rules." *Id.* at 501. After trial and determination of disputed facts, the trial court should fashion an equitable remedy that is just and "fact specific." *Id.* at 503.

Courts have long used transfers of property and options to purchase land to resolve disputes and balance the equities of the parties. *Id.* at 849 (ordering a forced land transfer to remedy a 1,600 square foot encroachment); *see also People's Sav. Bank v.*

Bufford, 90 Wash. 204, 209, 155 P. 1068 (1916) (court ordered sale of an entire city lot).

In this case, the trial court ruled that Cottinghams adversely possessed 292.3 square feet of Morgans' property. In order to "balance the equities," Morgans were given the option to purchase the land back from Cottinghams at its fair market price. CP 112. Morgans completed construction of the home well before Cottinghams claims. Without such an option to purchase, Morgans would have to move or destroy all or part of their home. Giving Morgans this option was clearly not an abuse of the trial court's broad equitable powers. The law is well established that this equitable sale is not an abuse of the trial court discretion. The remedy is allowed by *Arnold v. Melani*, 75 Wn.2d 143, 449 P.2d 800 (1968-69); *Proctor v. Huntington*, 169 Wn.2d 491; or *Bach v. Sarich*, 74 Wn.2d 575, 445 P.2d 648 (1968).

B. An Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment may be modified before entry of a final judgment.

(b) When more than one claim for relief is presented in an action, whether as a claim, counterclaim, cross claim, or third party claim, or when multiple parties are involved, the court may direct the entry of a final judgment as to one or more but fewer than all of the claims or parties only upon an express determination in

the judgment, supported by written findings, that there is no just reason for delay and upon an express direction for the entry of judgment. The findings may be made at the time of entry of judgment or thereafter on the courts own motion or on motion of any party. In the absence of such findings, determination and direction, any order or other form of decision, however designated, which adjudicates fewer than all the claims or the rights and liabilities of fewer than all the parties shall not terminate the action as to any of the claims or parties, and the order or other form of decision is subject to revision at any time before the entry of judgment adjudicating all the claims and the rights and liabilities of all the parties.

CR 54(b). (Emphasis added.) "[A]bsent a proper certification of finality, 'an order which adjudicates fewer than all claims or the rights and liabilities of fewer than all parties is subject to revision at any time before entry of final judgment as to all claims and the rights and liabilities of all parties." *Moratti v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 162 Wn.App. 495, 254 P.3d 939 (Div. 1, 2011) (citing *Washburn v. Beatt Equip. Co.*, 120 Wn.2d 246, 300, 840 P.2d 860 (1992); CR 54(b)).

The Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment was not certified as a final judgment. CP 389. Thus, the order was appropriately modified prior to the entry of judgment.

REQUEST FOR ATTORNEY FEES AND EXPENSES

Morgans respectfully request this Court award reasonable attorney fees and expenses for the preparation and filing of this answer to Cottinghams' Petition for Review pursuant to RCW 4.84.080 and RAP 18.1.

CONCLUSION

Cottinghams' petition does not raise any ruling by the Court of Appeals that is inconsistent with applicable case law. Therefore, Morgans respectfully request that Cottinghams' Petition for Review be denied.